RECEIVED

06-19-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2019AP000435-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES TIMOTHY GENOUS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Dennis C. Cimpl Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

LEON W. TODD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050407

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 227-4805 toddl@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the police have reasonable suspicion to stop Mr. Genous' car after an officer saw a woman exit a residence late at night and enter his car for ten to fifteen seconds, where the woman matched the general description of an individual with a drug history who lived at that residence?

The circuit court answered yes.

2. If the initial traffic stop was lawful, did the police exceed the permissible scope of the stop by ordering Mr. Genous to exit the car, sit on the curb, and remove his shoes and socks?

The circuit court implicitly answered no by finding the stop constitutional.

3. Did the police have probable cause to search Mr. Genous' car by opening the car door after they saw hand sanitizer, multiple cell phones, and cigar wrappers in his car?

The circuit court answered yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The briefs will fully address the issues presented, so Mr. Genous does not request oral argument. See Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b). He does not

request publication because the case can be resolved by applying established legal precedent to the facts. See Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(b)1.,3.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State charged Mr. Genous with possession of a firearm by a felon. The complaint alleged that Mr. Genous was driving a car parked outside the residence of a known heroin user. It further alleged that he "appeared to make a transaction before driving off." After making this observation, the police conducted a traffic stop. Inside the car, they observed a handgun sticking out from underneath the driver's seat. The complaint further alleged that Mr. Genous had previously been convicted a felony. (1:1).

Mr. Genous filed a motion to suppress the evidence discovered during the traffic stop and search of his vehicle. (7). His motion alleged that the police did not have reasonable suspicion to believe he was engaged in criminal activity simply because an individual with a prior drug history had briefly entered his car. (7:4-5).

At the suppression hearing, the State called two witnesses: Officer Adam Stikl and Officer Bernie Molthen. Officer Stikl testified that he was on patrol in an unmarked squad car in the city of West Allis when he observed a black sedan around 3:30 a.m. (49:6-7; 24). The vehicle was running, but legally parked on the street across from the residence located the 1601 South 65th Street. (49:6-8). At that

point, Officer Stikl turned his headlights off and drove his car to a location about half a block behind the black sedan. (49:7). The sedan turned its lights off, but no one got out of the car. (49:7).

Officer Stikl offered the following reason for why he decided to stop and watch the vehicle:

Based on my training and experience, a lot of these drug cars will come into our city, park in front of a house where they are going to sell their drugs to, make the deal inside their vehicle in front of the house and then leave.

(49:8). Officer Stikl also claimed that this area was a "high drug trafficking area." (49:8).

Officer Stikl stated that he watched the black sedan for about one minute. Shortly after the vehicle's lights turned off, a female came out of the residence at 1601 South 65th Street and approached the vehicle. (49:9). According to Officer Stikl, the female matched the general physical description of an individual named Kayla Sienko, a known drug user who lived at address. (49:10-11). Officer Stikl explained that:

Based on other reports involving this individual where she had been arrested for drug offenses, that's the—the address that she provided when she was arrested. She also worked with our drug unit, and our department sent out—or one of our detectives sent out an email regarding about [sic] that individual.

. . . .

[W]e've had prior contacts with her. Obviously, she's a heroin user as well as narcotics, and our drug unit sent an email out saying that they were no longer going to work with her and just keep an eye on her because she does obviously still use.

(49:11-13).

Officer Stikl testified that the woman entered the passenger side of the black sedan; however, he was not able to see anything that happened inside the car. (49:13). After about ten to fifteen seconds, the woman exited the vehicle and went back inside her house. (49:14). She did not appear to be carrying anything, Officer Stikl said, either when she entered Officer Stikl the vehicle or exited. (49:14).nevertheless suspected that he had witnessed a drug (49:14).He therefore radioed other transaction. officers to inform them about what he had seen and tell them that he was going to perform a traffic stop. (49:14).

Within a few seconds, the sedan turned its headlights back on and drove off. (49:15). Officer Stikl followed for approximately three blocks and then initiated a traffic stop. (49:15). He stated that the sole basis for the stop was his observations of the woman entering and exiting the car; no traffic violations had occurred. (49:15). Prior to stopping the vehicle, Officer Stikl ran the car's license plate and discovered that it was registered to a person who lived in the city of Milwaukee. (49:34-35).

Officer Stikl testified that the driver of the vehicle, who he identified as Mr. Genous, pulled over right away. (49:16). After Officer Stikl made contact with him, Mr. Genous told Officer Stikl that he had been meeting his mistress; however, she failed to show up. When Officer Stikl told him that he had seen a female enter his car, Mr. Genous agreed that a woman named Kayla had, in fact, entered his car. (49:17-18). He explained that the woman wanted money from him, and when he did not give it to her, she got upset and left his car. (49:18).

Officer Stikl noted that when he was speaking with Mr. Genous, he observed multiple cell phones, hand sanitizer, and cigar wrappers in the car. (49:46-47). Regarding the significance of the hand sanitizer, he stated that "[i]t's common knowledge drugs dealers actually conceal narcotics within their anal area. And what they do is they use the hand sanitizer after removing that stuff to clean their hands." (49:46). He also noted that cigar wrappers can be used to smoke marijuana by rolling the marijuana in the wrapper, which is called a "blunt." (49:47).

Officer Stikl further testified that at some point, two other officers arrived on scene—Officer Molthen and Officer Martin. After Officer Stikl returned to his squad car to run Mr. Genous' license, Officer Molthen notified him that he had seen Mr. Genous make a "furtive movement" by reaching underneath his seat. (49:18-21, 39). After that,

Officer Stikl asked Mr. Genous to exit the car so he could question him. (49:18-19).

Mr. Genous cooperated and exited his vehicle. According to Officer Stikl, while he was speaking with Mr. Genous, Officer Molthen told him he had observed a gun in Mr. Genous' car sticking out from underneath the driver's seat. (49:21). Officer Stikl claimed that Officer Molthen did not enter Mr. Genous' car; rather, he saw the gun in "plain view" while looking through the front windshield. (49:21).

No drugs were ever discovered in Mr. Genous' car. The officers also never spoke with Ms. Sienko. While they later attempted to make contact with her, she did not answer her door. (49:22).

On cross-examination, Officer Stikl admitted that prior to this incident, he had no knowledge of a black sedan being used to transport drugs to Ms. Sienko, her residence, or any other location in West Allis. (49:24, 30-31). He also admitted that he had never seen a picture of Ms. Sienko or had any contact with her before. (49:28-29). His sole basis of knowledge concerning Ms. Sienko was the email he received from a detective at the West Allis Police Department, which had been sent approximately two weeks earlier. (49:28-29).Through this email, Detective Stikl was informed that Ms. Sienko was a heavy heroin user and that she had had several contacts with the West Allis Police Department for various drug cases. (49:29). The email, however, did

not mention any prior cases where drugs had been sold in front of 1601 South 65th Street. (49:32). Nor did the email contain any information about anyone else who may have lived at 1601 South 65th Street. (49:29-30). Officer Stikl therefore did not know how many people actually lived at that address. (49:30). He claimed, however, that he had looked up Ms. Sienko's physical description in his department's "local system." (49:29).

Officer Stikl also stated on cross-examination that after running Mr. Genous' license, he returned to question Mr. Genous further. By that point, one of the other officers had directed Mr. Genous to exit the car, and he was sitting on the curb. (49:40-42). Officer Stikl asked Mr. Genous multiple times for permission to search the car, and each time Mr. Genous said no. (49:40-41). He also ordered Mr. Genous to take his shoes and socks off so he could search them. (49:41-43). Mr. Genous complied, and nothing illegal was found in his shoes or socks. While Officer Stikl was searching (49:42-43).Mr. Genous' shoes and socks, the other officers were shining their flashlights through the windows of his car. (49:44).

The next witness called by the State was Officer Molthen. He testified that he responded as back-up to the traffic stop in this case. (49:50). He

¹ This statement contradicted Officer Stikl's earlier statement that he was the one who told Mr. Genous to exit the car. (*See* 49:18-19).

stated that when Officer Stikl returned to his squad car to run Mr. Genous' license, he positioned himself by the passenger side door of Officer Stikl's squad car, about twenty feet behind Mr. Genous' car. (49:52-53). From there, he saw Mr. Genous make several movements with his right shoulder, which he described as "dipping his right shoulder down like he was reaching for something underneath his seat or trying to place something underneath the seat." (49:53).

Officer Molthen claimed that he communicated these observations to Officer Martin who then approached the vehicle and asked Mr. Genous to step out of the car. (49:54). After Mr. Genous complied, Officer Molthen continued to look inside his car from the passenger side of the vehicle. Officer Molthen testified that he moved a little bit forward while remaining near the passenger side, and looked through the windshield and saw the handle of a black handgun sticking out from underneath the driver's seat. (49:55, 60).

After hearing testimony, the circuit court viewed the dash cam video from Officer's Stikl's squad car and found that what it showed was inconsistent with significant portions of the officers' testimony. (49:64). The court summarized the relevant parts of the video, beginning when the officers returned to Officer's Stikl's squad car after having initially made contact with Mr. Genous. First, the court described the officers' initial attempts

to see what was in the car by looking through the windows:

When the three officers go back to the car, there is a discussion that they've seen the drug stuff² on the floor. And the one officer, I believe it's Stikl, sends the other one back to look for the drug stuff. That officer, who I assume was Molthen but I can't discern who's who based upon the video, that officer goes back with his flashlight and looks into the front of the car from the passenger side on two occasions.

And then he gets the third occasion, and the other officer—another officer is there with him. They're both looking there. It's at that point—Well, it's— It's before that third incident when the defendant is pulled out of the car or told to get out of the car and is seated behind the car. There was no— And the— The audio of the cops was—was pretty clear. There's no discussion of any guns. There is repeated questioning of the

² With respect to the court's reference to the "drug stuff," the video shows that Officer Stikl states that he saw cigar wrappers along with a white plastic bag on the center console, but he could not see if anything was in the bag. He also states that he thought he may have seen marijuana on the passenger-side floor boards. He therefore asks the other officers to go back and look again. After looking three times through the windows, the other officers state that they too saw cigar wrappers, but could not smell any marijuana. They also appear to indicate that they did not see any marijuana either, although the audio is somewhat unclear in this respect. (Squad cam video at 00:02:20 to 00:06:10). In any event, neither officer testified at the suppression hearing that they actually saw marijuana inside Mr. Genous' car.

defendant. The officers, when they come back after that third look through the windshield, do note that they've seen the cell phones and the sanitizer and the blunt.

(49:64-65; App. 102-03).

Next, the court summarized the portion of the video that shows that the officers had, in fact, opened the driver's side door before discovering the gun, contrary to their testimony:

The officers then go back and one of the officers approaches the driver's side and opens the door and at that point looks in and comes running back to the side accusing the defendant of being a felon in possession.

(49:65; App. 103). The squad cam video also shows that right before this, the officer says "we're gonna do it" and then walks over to the driver-side door of the car. (Squad cam video at 00:10:00 to 00:10:10). Both attorneys agreed that the court's summary of the video was accurate. (49:65; App. 103).

After hearing additional arguments from the attorneys (49:66-86; App. 104-24), the court rendered its decision from the bench, denying Mr. Genous' motion to suppress. First, the court concluded that the initial traffic stop was lawful. In this respect, it stated that the following facts supplied reasonable suspicion for the stop:

- 1. Mr. Genous had short-term contact with a woman who exited the residence at 1601 South 65th Street and entered his car at 3:30 a.m.
- 2. Immediately before that contact, Mr. Genous' car "was parked on the street suspiciously running with its lights on and then turns its lights off." 3
- 3. The woman matched the general description of Ms. Sienko, who Officer Stikl knew was a drug user who lived at that address.
- 4. It was a high drug-trafficking area.

(49:89; App. 127).

Regarding the subsequent discovery of the gun, the court acknowledged that Officer's Molthen's "testimony that he saw the gun in plain view just doesn't compute," noting that a "picture is worth more than the testimony." (49:90; App. 128). The court noted that if Officer Molthen had actually seen the gun in plain view, "he would not have gone back

³ The circuit court also stated that Mr. Genous turned the car off, in addition to turning the lights off. (49:49; App. 127). There was no testimony, however, that Mr. Genous turned the car off; Officer Stikl only stated that he turned the lights off. (*See* 49:9).

⁴ The circuit court stated that the officer observed Ms. Sienko exit the residence and enter Mr. Genous' car. Officer Stikl, however, only said that the woman he saw matched the general description of Ms. Sienko; he did not positively identify the woman as Ms. Sienko. (49:10-11, 28-29).

there not once but twice but three times." (49:90; App. 128).

The court also noted, however, that Officer Stikl had seen hand sanitizer, multiple cell phones, and cigar wrappers in Mr. Genous car. These items, the court reasoned, were all indicia of drug use or drug dealing based on the officer's training and experience. (49:90; App. 128). The court thus concluded that the observation of these items gave the officers probable cause to search Mr. Genous' car for drugs, stating:

And I think at that point, they've got the right to go into the car and see whether or not that is, in fact, a blunt. And when they do that, I think that's when they see the gun, which is then in plain view when they open that—that driver's door. And therefore, the seizure of the gun is valid; and therefore, I will deny the motion.

(49:91; App. 129).

Mr. Genous subsequently pled guilty to felon in possession of a firearm. (52:3). The circuit court sentenced him to one year of initial confinement and one year of extended supervision. (53:31-32).

This appeal follows.⁵

⁵ A defendant may appeal an order denying a suppression motion despite a guilty plea. Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10).

ARGUMENT

traffic I. The initial stop was unconstitutional because the police lacked reasonable suspicion that Mr. Genous had engaged in drug transaction.

In this case, Mr. Genous had short-term contact with a woman late at night in his car. Nothing about that is criminally suspicious. The fact that the woman may have had a prior drug history does not change that. People with criminal histories—and the people they associate with—cannot be randomly stopped and searched simply because of their prior records. The fact that this was a high drugtrafficking area also did provide reasonable suspicion for the stop. People who live in or visit high-crime neighborhoods are entitled to the same level of constitutional protection as everyone else. This court should therefore reverse the trial court's ruling and order that the evidence obtained as a result of the illegal stop be suppressed.

A. General legal principles and standard of review.

The right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures is guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. Wisconsin courts generally follow the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Fourth Amendment in construing Article I, § 11. State v.

Betterly, 191 Wis. 2d 407, 417, 529 N.W.2d 216 (1995).

The Fourth Amendment governs all police intrusions, including investigatory or *Terry* stops. *See Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). Where an unlawful stop occurs, the remedy is usually to suppress the evidence it produced. *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 487-88 (1963); *State v. Washington*, 2005 WI App 123, ¶19, 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305 (2005).

An investigatory stop must be based on more than an "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch." *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 27. To conduct a lawful *Terry* stop, an officer must have reasonable suspicion, based on specific and articulable facts, to believe the person is engaged in criminal activity. *Ornelas v. United States*, 517 U.S. 690, 696 (1996).

Determining whether an officer had reasonable suspicion to stop a defendant involves an objective analysis of the totality of the circumstances, considering the facts in the record and rational inferences from those facts. *Ohio v. Robinette*, 519 U.S. 33, 34 (1996). However, "to accommodate public and private interests some quantum of *individualized* suspicion is usually a prerequisite to a constitutional search or seizure." *United States v. Martinez-Fuente*, 428 U.S. 543, 560 (1976) (emphasis added); *see also Michigan v. Summers*, 452 U.S. 692, 699 n.9 (1981).

In reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress, an appellate court applies a two-step standard. *State v. Martin*, 2012 WI 96, ¶28, 343 Wis. 2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270. First, it upholds the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. Second, it independently reviews whether those facts meet the applicable constitutional standard. *Id*.

B. Mr. Genous' short-term contact with a woman late at night did not provide reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop, even if the woman may have had a drug history.

Again, as found by the circuit court, the relevant facts at the time of the stop were: (1) Mr. Genous had short-term contact with a woman who exited a house and entered his car at 3:30 a.m.; (2) shortly before the woman exited the house, Mr. Genous had turned his car's headlights off; (3) the woman matched the general description of Ms. Sienko, who Officer Stikl knew to be a drug user who lived at that address; and (4) it was a high drugtrafficking area. (49:89; App. 127). None of these facts, whether considered alone or taken together, provided reasonable basis to suspect that a Mr. Genous sold the woman drugs or committed any other crime.

First, the fact that Mr. Genous had short-term contact with a woman in his car was not criminally suspicious, even when considered with the other facts in this case. In *State v. Young*, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 433,

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