RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-16-2019

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2019AP435-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES TIMOTHY GENOUS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DENNIS C. CIMPL, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- I. Police lawfully stopped Genous's car.
 - A. Police officers may perform a traffic stop if they have reasonable suspicion of illegal behavior.

"The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect people from unreasonable searches and seizures." *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 18, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729 (footnotes omitted). A traffic stop is a seizure. *State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶ 11, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569.

"[P]olice officers who reasonably suspect an individual is breaking the law are permitted to conduct a traffic stop 'to try to obtain information confirming or dispelling the officer's suspicions." *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 22, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143 (citation omitted). To determine whether police had reasonable suspicion, a court considers "the facts known to the officer at the time the stop occurred, together with rational inferences and inferences drawn by officers in light of policing experience and training." *State v. Wortman*, 2017 WI App 61, ¶ 6, 378 Wis. 2d 105, 902 N.W.2d 561.

When determining whether reasonable suspicion supported a traffic stop, a court "look[s] to the totality of the facts taken together. The building blocks of fact accumulate. And as they accumulate, reasonable inferences about the cumulative effect can be drawn." *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 58, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

"Reasonable suspicion requires that a police officer possess specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot." Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 21. "A mere hunch that a person has been, is, or will be involved in criminal activity is insufficient." Id. "On the other hand, 'police officers are not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief stop." Id. (citation omitted). Reasonable suspicion "is considerably less than proof of wrongdoing by a preponderance of the evidence." $Alabama\ v$. White, 496 U.S. 325, 330 (1990).

B. Police had reasonable suspicion to stop Genous's car.

In one instructive case, this Court found reasonable suspicion of illegal drug activity because (1) the defendant and another man approached a car, and one of them entered the car for about one minute; (2) the brief contact with the car happened "late at night" in "a high-crime area"; and (3) the defendant and the other man hung "around the neighborhood"

for five to ten minutes" after the car drove away. *State v. Allen* 226 Wis. 2d 66, 74–75, 593 N.W.2d 504 (Ct. App. 1999). This Court considered the "cumulative effect" of those facts and viewed the events "in sequence." *Id.* at 75 (citation omitted).

Police here likewise had reasonable suspicion to stop Genous. Like in *Allen*, police here observed a person's brief contact with a car in a "high drug trafficking area" late at night—specifically, 3:30 a.m. (R. 49:89.) Only one relevant fact in *Allen* is missing here: Genous did not remain in the neighborhood for several minutes after the brief contact. But other facts made Genous's situation more suspicious than the one in Allen. Genous turned his headlights off after parking his car on the roadside. (R. 49:7.) A woman came outside of a nearby home "within a few seconds" of the headlights turning off, and she got into Genous's car for about 10 to 15 seconds. (R. 49:9, 13–14.) This woman matched the physical description of Kayla Sienko, who lived in that house. (R. 49:10–11.) Police knew from "prior contacts" with Sienko that she was "a heroin user," and she "still use[s]." (R. 49:12-13.) When viewed cumulatively and in sequence, these facts created reasonable suspicion to stop Genous's car to investigate possible drug activity.

C. Genous's arguments against reasonable suspicion have no merit.

In arguing that the stop of his car was illegal, Genous relies heavily on three cases: *State v. Gammons*, 2001 WI App 36, 241 Wis. 2d 296, 625 N.W.2d 623; *State v. Betow*, 226 Wis. 2d 90, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999); and *State v. Young*, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997). (Genous's Br. 15–18.) Those cases do not help him.

In *Young*, police lacked reasonable suspicion to stop the defendant after observing him briefly interact with another person on a sidewalk "in a high drug-trafficking area." *Young*, 212 Wis. 2d at 429. The *Young* court reasoned that this

behavior was "conduct that large numbers of innocent citizens engage in every day for wholly innocent purposes, even in residential neighborhoods where drug trafficking occurs." *Id.* at 429–30.

This Court in *Allen*, however, distinguished *Young*. *Allen*, 226 Wis. 2d at 74–75. Unlike in *Young*, the suspicious behavior in *Allen* was "not conduct that a large number of innocent citizens engage in every night for wholly innocent purposes either in crime-free areas or high-crime areas." *Id*. at 74. *Allen*, rather than *Young*, controls here because Genous's case involves brief contact with a car late at night.

In *Betow*, police unlawfully extended a traffic stop to search for drugs even though (1) the defendant looked nervous; (2) his wallet had a picture of a mushroom on it; (3) it was nighttime; and (4) the defendant was coming from Madison, which the State argued was "a city regrettably well known as a place where drugs may be readily obtained." *Betow*, 226 Wis. 2d at 95–97. The *Betow* court relied on *Young*. *Id.* at 98.

In *Gammons*, a police officer lacked reasonable suspicion to extend a traffic stop to search for drugs even though "the vehicle was stopped in a 'drug-related' or 'drug crime' area; it was 10:00 p.m.; the vehicle was from Illinois; [a police officer] had knowledge of prior drug activity by each of the three men in the vehicle; and Gammons appeared to be nervous and uneasy." *Gammons*, 241 Wis. 2d 296, ¶ 21. The *Gammons* court relied heavily on *Betow. Id.* ¶¶ 19–23.

Genous's case is unlike *Betow* and *Gammons* because it involved a known drug user's brief, late-night contact with a parked car. Those facts were absent from both *Betow* and *Gammons*. Genous's case is analogous to *Allen*, not *Betow* and *Gammons*.

Besides relying on inapposite case law, Genous focuses on each suspicious fact and argues that it, by itself, does not create reasonable suspicion. (Genous's Br. 19–22.) For example, he argues that "a person's prior drug history or criminal record does not create reasonable suspicion," and "the fact that the woman in this case matched the general description of Ms. Sienko did not create reasonable suspicion of criminal wrongdoing." (*Id.* at 20.) But "[t]he totality-of-the-circumstances test 'precludes this sort of divide-and-conquer analysis." *Dist. of Columbia v. Wesby*, 138 S. Ct. 577, 588 (2018) (citation omitted).

Genous argues that his meeting with a woman in his car might have had "lawful reasons." (Genous's Br. 19.) But "police officers are not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief stop." *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 21 (citation omitted). Police may perform an investigatory stop "if any reasonable inference of wrongful conduct can be objectively discerned, notwithstanding the existence of other innocent inferences that could be drawn." *Id.* (citation omitted). The facts discussed above, when viewed together, created a reasonable inference that Genous was engaged in drug dealing.

Genous further argues that his presence in a "high drug trafficking area" "did not justify the stop." (Genous's Br. 21.) He quotes case law which notes that a person's presence in a high-crime area, by itself, does not create reasonable suspicion. (Id. at 22.) True, but an area's reputation is a "factor in the totality of the circumstances equation." Allen, 226 Wis. 2d at 74. Genous is once against engaging in an improper divide-and-conquer argument against reasonable suspicion.

Genous also argues that "Officer Stikl did not even know for certain that the woman he saw was actually Ms. Sienko." (Genous's Br. 21.) But reasonable suspicion does not require "absolute certainty." *State v. Newer*, 2007 WI App 236,

¶ 7, 306 Wis. 2d 193, 742 N.W.2d 923. Instead, reasonable suspicion exists if "rational inferences" from the facts create a "reasonable inference of wrongful conduct." *State v. Conaway*, 2010 WI App 7, ¶ 5, 323 Wis. 2d 250, 779 N.W.2d 182. Police could rationally infer that Sienko was the woman who entered Genous's car, because this woman matched Sienko's physical description and came from Sienko's house. (R. 49:10–11.)

Finally, Genous argues that his act of turning his headlights off was not suspicious. (Genous's Br. 20.) But courts often consider a driver's act of turning headlights off when finding reasonable suspicion. See, e.g., United States v. Salazar, 609 F.3d 1059, 1069 (10th Cir. 2010); United States v. Brown, 63 F. App'x 655, 656 (4th Cir. 2003) (per curiam) (R-App. 101–02); United States v. Watson, 953 F.2d 895, 897 (5th Cir. 1992); State v. Resch, No. 2010AP2321-CR, 2011 WL 1564008. $\P\P$ 14–15 (Wis. Ct. App. Apr. 27. (unpublished) (R-App. 103–07). Genous's conduct was suspicious because he turned off his headlights seconds before a woman came outside of a house and got into his car. (R. 49:7, 9.) One rational inference is that Genous turned off his headlights to avoid drawing attention to his car while he engaged in a drug deal. In any event, under *Allen*, there was reasonable suspicion to stop Genous's car even without considering his headlights.

II. Police lawfully found a gun in Genous's car.

Genous next argues that, if police lawfully stopped his car, the gun evidence must be suppressed. He presents two arguments in support of suppression: one pertaining to his socks and shoes, the other pertaining to a car door. Both arguments fail because the police lawfully found the gun.

A. The search of Genous's socks and shoes was lawful and, in any event, is irrelevant.

Genous argues that the gun evidence must be suppressed because police unlawfully extended his traffic stop to search his socks and shoes. (Genous's Br. 23–30.)³ That argument fails for two separate reasons: (1) police lawfully searched Genous's shoes and socks; and (2) even if that search was unlawful, it had no bearing on the search of his car, where police found the gun.

1. Police lawfully searched Genous's socks and shoes.

"A pat down, or 'frisk,' is a search." *State v. Morgan*, 197 Wis. 2d 200, 208, 539 N.W.2d 887 (1995) (citation omitted). A police officer may frisk a person if the officer has a reasonable suspicion that the person might be armed and dangerous to the officer or others. *State v. Kyles*, 2004 WI 15, ¶ 7, 269 Wis. 2d 1, 675 N.W.2d 449. The officer "need not reasonably believe that an individual *is armed*; rather, the test is whether the officer has a reasonable suspicion that a suspect *may be armed*." *Morgan*, 197 Wis. 2d at 209 (emphases added) (citations omitted).

Here, three factors allowed police to order Genous to remove his socks and shoes so police could do a protective search of them.

First, police encountered Genous in a "high drug trafficking area" at 3:30 a.m. (R. 49:89.) Nighttime and presence in a high-crime area support the reasonableness of

 $^{^3}$ Genous does not argue that police unlawfully ordered him to exit his car, nor could he plausibly do so because "an officer may ask a driver to step out of the car during a traffic stop." *State v. Smith*, 2018 WI 2, ¶ 31, 379 Wis. 2d 86, 905 N.W.2d 353, *cert. denied*, 139 S. Ct. 79 (2018).

a frisk. *State v. McGill*, 2000 WI 38, ¶¶ 24–25, 234 Wis. 2d 560, 609 N.W.2d 795. In fact, the supreme court has "consistently upheld protective frisks that occur in the evening hours, recognizing that at night, an officer's visibility is reduced by darkness and there are fewer people on the street to observe the encounter." Id. ¶¶ 26, 32.

Second, "those who deal drugs often keep weapons on their person or nearby." State v. Guy, 172 Wis. 2d 86, 96, 492 N.W.2d 311 (1992); see also State v. Johnson, 2007 WI 32, ¶¶ 29, 38, 299 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182 (noting that drug selling is associated with possession of deadly weapons). As explained above, police had a lawful basis to stop Genous on suspicion of drug dealing based on his brief contact with a woman who fit the description of a known drug user, Kayla Sienko. After stopping Genous but before ordering him out of his car, police saw items in his car that were "consistent with drug dealing": multiple cell phones, cigar wrappers, and hand sanitizer. (R. 49:46–47.) Officer Stikl knew from training and experience that those items were indications of drug use or drug dealing. (R. 49:90.) Officer Stikl also thought that he "saw some weed" on the passenger-side floor. (R. video at 2:35–37.) All these facts created a reasonable belief that Genous was selling drugs. That belief, in turn, supported the suspicion that he might be armed and dangerous.

Third, police saw Genous make a furtive reaching movement while he was in his car. "An unexplained reaching movement or a furtive gesture by a suspect during a traffic stop can be a factor in causing an officer to have reasonable suspicion that a suspect is dangerous and has access to weapons." *State v. Sumner*, 2008 WI 94, ¶ 26, 312 Wis. 2d 292, 752 N.W.2d 783. Such furtive gestures include a driver reaching under his or her seat. *See State v. Buchanan*, 2011 WI 49, ¶ 11, 334 Wis. 2d 379, 799 N.W.2d 775.

Here, police saw Genous "making several movements with his right shoulder—dipping his right shoulder down like

he was reaching for something underneath his seat or trying to place something underneath the seat." (R. 49:53.) A police officer was concerned that Genous "might be accessing a weapon to assault officers." (R. 49:54.) Police could not tell whether Genous was trying to place something under his seat or was retrieving something from under his seat. (R. 49:54.)

Police thus could reasonably think that Genous might be dangerous and in possession of a weapon. It was reasonable to think that Genous's downward reaching movement was an effort to hide a weapon in one of his shoes or socks. When police have reasonable suspicion to perform a protective search, they have the right to "an effective" one. State v. *Limon*, 2008 WI App 77, ¶ 38, 312 Wis. 2d 174, 751 N.W.2d 877 (citation omitted). "[W]here an effective pat[-]down is not possible, the officer may take other action reasonably necessary to discover a weapon." Id. (second alteration in original) (citation omitted). Small weapons like razor blades can be in unusual places. See, e.g., State v. Denk, 2008 WI 130, \P 59, 315 Wis. 2d 5, 758 N.W.2d 775 (upholding the search of an eyeglasses case during a traffic stop because it "was capable of containing a small weapon, such as a knife or a razor blade"). It was reasonable for police to check Genous's shoes and socks for a small weapon like a knife or razor blade, especially given his reaching movement toward his feet while he was sitting in his car and the limited visibility at night.

This Court found reasonable suspicion for a protective search based on fewer suspicious facts in *Allen*. There, a patdown was justified for the same reasons that permitted the investigatory stop itself: the defendant hung around in a neighborhood for several minutes after making brief contact with a car "in a high-crime area" late at night. *Allen*, 226 Wis. 2d at 77. The facts supporting the pat-down here are even stronger because Genous made a furtive movement and because police saw items associated with drug dealing in his car.

2. Further, the gun evidence should not be suppressed even if the search of Genous's socks and shoes was illegal.

In any event, even if the police illegally had Genous remove his socks and shoes, this illegal conduct would not entitle him to suppression of the gun that police found in his car. There is no causal link between the search of Genous's shoes and socks and the search of his car.

"[T]he exclusionary rule requires courts to suppress evidence obtained through the *exploitation* of an illegal search or seizure." *State v. Carroll*, 2010 WI 8, ¶ 19, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1 (emphasis added). "This rule applies not only to primary evidence seized *during* an unlawful search, but also to derivative evidence acquired *as a result* of the illegal search, unless the State shows sufficient attenuation from the original illegality to dissipate that taint." Id. (emphases added).⁴

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